### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND EMPLOYMENT SECURITY, WORKERS' COMPENSATION ADMINISTRATION TRUST FUND, CLERK, SUPREME COURT

FILED

SID J. WHITE

NOV 16 1998

Chief Deputy Clerk

645

CASE NO. 94,103

LT. CASE NO. 97-04038

D/A: 7/1/74

Petitioner,

vs.

BOISE CASCADE CORPORATION and WAUSAU INSURANCE COMPANY, and WILLIAM M. BOWMAN, JR.,

Respondent.

Petitioner, Department of Labor & Employment Security's, Initial Brief on the Merits

> ON APPEAL FROM THE OPINION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DATED SEPTEMBER 11, 1998

> > Katrina D. Callaway Senior Attorney Florida Bar No.: 986089

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this Brief, the Petitioner, STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND EMPLOYMENT SECURITY, WORKERS' COMPENSATION ADMINISTRATION TRUST FUND, will be referred to as "the Division." The Respondent, WILLIAM M. BOWMAN, JR., will be referred to as 'Mr. Bowman" or "the claimant." BOISE CASCADE CORPORATION and WAUSAU INSURANCE COMPANY, will be referred to as "Employer/Carrier," or "E/C."

References to the Record on Appeal will be referred to **as** "R-'" followed by the volume and page number.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the First District Court of Appeal's (DCA) Opinion dated September 11, 1998 prohibiting the Division of Workers' Compensation (Division) from including the yearly increases in PTD supplemental benefits in the social security offset taken.

This **case** originated as an appeal from a workers' compensation order determining that "[t]he Administrative Trust Fund should not take a **setoff** against increases in the supplemental benefits after their initial calculation in 1975 based upon the recent decision in <u>Hunt v. D.M. Stratton, Jr.</u> . . ." (R-Vol. III, p. 449). This Order **was** appealed to the First District Court of **Appeal**, which affirmed the Judge of Compensation Claim's (JCC) ruling.

The First **DCA's** Opinion was issued on September 11, 1998. This Opinion certified the following question to this Court:

> WHERE AN EMPLOYER TAKES Α WORKERS ' COMPENSATION OFFSET UNDER SECTION 440.20(15), INITIALLY FLORIDA STATUTES (1985), AND INCLUDES SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFITS PAID UNDER SECTION 440.15(1) (e) (1), FLORIDA STATUTES (1985), I S THEEMPLOYER ENTITLED TO RECALCULATE THE OFFSET BASED ON THE YEARLY 5% INCREASE IN SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFITS?

The State of Florida, Department of Labor & Employment Security, **timely** filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court on October 9, 1998.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

William Bowman, the claimant, suffered **a** compensable accident on July 1, 1974 while working for Boise Cascade Company, the employer. (R-Vol. II, p.229, Vol. I, p.98, Vol. **III**, pp. 445-446). The claimant **was** a lead maintenance worker in a plant manufacturing composite cans for the citrus industry and hurt his back while trying to **catch a** falling plate from a dye press. (R-Vol. I, pp. 39, 54-56, 76). The claimant worked for the employer for seven years. (R-Vol. I, **p**. 36). On June 26, 1975 the claimant was put on disability leave. (R.-Vol. III, p. 312). The claimant began receiving social security disability benefits in August, 1975. (R-Vol. I, p. 46; Vol. II, p. 237).

After the workers' compensation accident, the carrier began paying the claimant workers' compensation benefits based on the average weekly wage of \$256.33. (R-Vol. I, p. 236). The PTD benefits owed by the E/C were limited, however, to the maximum compensation rate of \$80.00 per week (1974 maximum compensation rate). (R-Vol. I, pp. 91, 98). The claimant's initial social security benefit (P.I.A.) was \$402.00. (R-Vol. II, p. 237). Because he had dependants, the claimant actually received \$703.60 in social security disability (the maximum family benefit). (R-Vol. II, p. 237). Eighty percent of his average current earnings was \$880.00. (R-Vol. II, p. 237).

The claimant's PTD supplemental benefits were paid by the Division through the Workers' Compensation Administration Trust Fund due to the date of accident in this case. (R-Vol. I, pp. 44, 94, 98). The Division is currently paying the supplemental benefits.

Even though the claimant received social security disability benefits, the E/C never took **a** social security offset on the PTD benefits they paid and are paying. (R-Vol. I, p. 92). The Division, however, has taken a social-security offset each year against the PTD supplemental benefits owed to the claimant, reducing the amount of PTD supplemental benefits paid to the claimant. Each **year** the Division recalculates the amount of offset **available** using the formula contained in the DWC-33 form. See Appendix **"B"**. This formula requires the Division to include the amount of PTD supplemental benefits owed in the **year** the offset is calculated in the offset calculation.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District Court of Appeal erred when it held in State of Florida v. Boise Cascade Corp. & Wausau Ins. Co. v. Bowman, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D2124 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA September 11, 1998) that the yearly increases in PTD supplemental benefits are not includable in the social security offset taken by the Division. The statute and the case law clearly intend for supplemental benefits to be considered compensation. The 5% annual increases in supplemental benefits provided for in the statute logically must be considered compensation too. The offset provision in the statute is clear and unambiguous. It requires that all weekly compensation benefits are included in the offset. The term "all weekly compensation" includes supplemental benefits as they are compensation pursuant to the statute and case law. Because supplemental benefits are compensation and as such includable in the offset, the annual increases in them are also compensation and includable in the offset. This Court has implicitly realized that annual increases are included in the offset calculation in its decision in Escambia County Sheriff's Dept. v. Grice, 692 So.2d 897 (Fla. 1997). The First DCA's decision affirming the JCC's order which prevents Petitioner from including the annual increases in the supplemental benefits in the offset should be

reversed. However, if this court affirms the First **DCA's** Opinion, it should apply that decision and the <u>Acker</u> decision prospectively only.

#### ARGUMENT

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN RULING THAT THE PETITIONER CANNOT INCLUDE ANNUAL INCREASES IN PERMANENT TOTAL DISABILITY SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFITS IN THE OFFSET.

The Judge of Compensation Claims found that the Division's inclusion of the yearly increase in permanent total disability supplemental benefits in the offset was not in accordance with case law. The First District Court of Appeal affirmed this decision in <u>State of Florida</u>, <u>Department of Labor & Employment</u> <u>Security v. Boise Cascade Corp. & Wausau Ins. Co. v. Bowman</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly **D2124 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA September 11**, . 1998). <u>See</u>, Appendix 'A." This appeal ensued.

The First DCA, in <u>Bowman</u>, certified the following question to this Court:

WHERE AN EMPLOYER TAKES А WORKERS' COMPENSATION OFFSET UNDER SECTION 440.20(15), FLORIDA STATUTES (1985), AND INITIALLY INCLUDES SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFITS PAID UNDER SECTION 440.15 (1) (e) (1), FLORIDA STATUTES THE EMPLOYER ENTITLED (1985), I S TO RECALCULATE THE OFFSET BASED ON THE YEARLY 5% INCREASE IN SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFITS?

This same question **was** also certified by the District Court in <u>Citv of Clearwater v. Acker</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1970 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA August. 28, 1998), <u>City of Clearwater v. Hahn</u>, 23 Fla. L.

Weekly D2120 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA September 9, 1998), Citv of Clearwater <u>v. Rowe</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D2120 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA September 9, 1998), and <u>Alderman v. Florida Plastering</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D2197 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA September 23, 1998). The <u>City of Clearwater</u> cases are currently pending before this Court. A Motion for Rehearing was filed in the <u>Alderman case</u>. Thus, it is still pending before the First DCA.

Although the First DCA certified the same question in all of these **cases**, the facts of the instant case are not the same as the <u>Citv of Clearwater</u> cases. The <u>Citv of Clearwater</u> cases involve an offset of a claimant's workers' compensation benefits due to the claimant's receipt of **a disability pension**; whereas, this case and the <u>Alderman</u> **case** involve an offset of a claimant's workers' compensation benefits due to the claimant's receipt of **social security disability benefits**. Thus, the certified question in this **case** is erroneous as it refers to workers' compensation offset under section **440.20(15)**, Florida Statutes (1985) . No offset under section **440.20(15)**, Florida Statutes, was taken in this case. Rather, the only offset taken was taken pursuant to section **440.15(10)** (a), Florida Statutes (1974).

The District Court, in <u>Bowman</u>, affirmed the JCC solely on the <u>Citv of Clearwater v. Acker</u> case. Because <u>Acker</u> involved a disability pension offset, unlike the instant case which involves

a social security disability offset, the district court's affirmance of this case based only on <u>Acker</u> evidence that the court has decided to treat alike those offsets due to the claimant's receipt of disability pension and those offsets due to the claimant's receipt of social security disability.

In cases with dates of accident prior to July 1, 1984, the Department through the Division of Workers' Compensation pays ( supplemental PTD benefits to the claimant. § 440.15(1) (f)l., Fla.Stat. (1997). Currently, when an offset is taken in a case where the Division is paying the supplemental benefits, the Division applies the offset available to the supplemental benefits owed.

In order to facilitate the offset calculation, the Division has, by rule, promulgated a form (LES Form DWC-33) which should be completed annually by any entity who intends to offset compensation benefits due to a claimant's receipt of social security disability, whether it is the insurance carrier or the Division (in pre-1984 cases). See Appendix "B." The DWC-33 requires the entry of certain sums to correctly calculate the offset. One of the variables is the "5% PT Supplement." Prior to the First DCA's decision in <u>Acker</u>, if a DWC-33 was completed annually, it included in the "5% PT Supplement" blank the amount of current supplemental benefits. Because the amount of PTD

supplemental benefits increases every year, it had the effect of increasing the offset available to the Division every year. However, the offset amount available never exceeded the amount the claimant received in social security benefits. <u>Hunt v. D.M.</u> <u>Stratton, Jr.</u> 677 So.2d 64,66 (Fla. 1<sup>et</sup> DCA 1996). The Division has the first right of offset, so in Division-paid PTD supplemental cases, the Division offsets the supplementals owed (simply because the Division pays no other compensation). <u>Highlands Co. Sch. Bd. v. Dept. of Labor & Emp. Sec. & Juan</u> <u>Carrisquillo</u>, 1998 Fla. App. LEXIS 12456 (Fla. 1<sup>et</sup> DCA October 7, 1998).

If the offset amount on line "a" of the DWC-33 is greater than the amount of PTD supplemental benefits owed to the claimant, then the Division takes a complete offset and the claimant receives no money from the Division. Further, **any** difference between the offset amount on line "a" and the amount of offset taken by the Division (amount of PT supplemental benefits owed), is permitted to be claimed by the carrier as an additional offset against permanent total disability payments. If the offset amount (line "a") is less than the PTD supplemental amount owed by the Division, then the Division subtracts the offset amount from the PTD supplemental benefit owed and pays the claimant the difference. Any decision in the case at bar

determining that the annual increases in supplemental benefits are not includable in the annual calculation of the offset would increase the Division's payment on claims where the supplemental benefits are the Division's responsibility. In other words, a decision in this regard would decrease the available offset amount taken by the Division.

District court of Appeal erred by ignoring the The applicable statute in this case. Supplemental benefits received by a PTD claimant are 'compensation" and as such are includable in the calculation of the offset. Section 440.15(1) (e), Fla.Stat. (1974) classifies supplemental benefits as compensation. It provides that "..., the injured employee shall receive additional weekly compensation benefits equal to 5 percent of his weekly compensation rate, as established pursuant to the law in effect on the date of his injury, multiplied by the number of calendar years since the date of injury." Section 440.15(1) (e), Fla.Stat. (1974) (emphasis supplied). This statute PTD supplemental clearly and unambiguously indicates that benefits are considered compensation as it expressly states that they are 'additional weekly compensation benefits."

Section 440.02(11), Fla.Stat. (1974) also indicates that supplemental benefits are 'compensation." This section defines "compensation" as ". . . the money allowance payable to an

employee or to his dependents as provided for in this chapter." **440.02(11)**, Fla.Stat. (1974). Clearly, supplemental PTD S benefits fall under this definition as these benefits are a money allowance paid to a claimant pursuant to Chapter 440. Furthermore, the First District Court of Appeal in City of North Bay Village v. Cook, 617 So.2d 753, 754 (Fla.1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1993) stated that "[s]upplemental benefits are <u>compensation</u> payments provided under section 440.15(1) (e)1, Florida Statutes (1983) . . ." (citing <u>Barrasan v. Citv of Miami</u>, 545 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1989)) (emphasis supplied). Further, in <u>Special Disability Trust Fund v.</u> Stephens, Lynn, Chernav & Klein, 595 So.2d 206 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1992), the First District Court of Appeal was asked to decide whether the Special Disability Trust Fund must reimburse PTD supplemental benefits. <u>Id.</u> At 207. The Court answered affirmatively, reasoning that although the Fund statute (Section 440.49, Fla.Stat.) did not expressly provide for reimbursement of these benefits, they were reimbursable nevertheless because they 'clearly constitute compensation" and the Fund statute provided for reimbursement for all compensation for PTD. Id. At 209. In other words, compensation encompasses PTD payments and PTD supplemental payments. Accordingly, it is clear that both the statute and the case law intend supplemental benefits to be considered compensation.

The offset provision in Chapter 440 (§ 440.15(10) (a), Fla.Stat. (1974)) provides that "[w]eekly compensation benefits payable under this chapter for disability . . . shall be reduced ... " § 440.15(10)(a), Fla.Stat. (1974) (emphasis supplied). Because supplemental benefits are 'compensation" as defined by Chapter 440 and the Cook and Stephens cases and because the statute (§ 440.15(10) (a), Fla.Stat.) mandates that "compensation" must be reduced (i.e. offset), supplemental benefits are included in the offset. If supplemental benefits themselves are considered compensation, then logically when this benefit amount increases each year, the increased supplemental amount is 'compensation" and as such includable in the offset pursuant to the statute mandating that compensation benefits are offset. Just because this benefit amount increases each year does not change its classification as supplemental benefits. The statute itself does not distinguish between the initial supplemental benefit amount and the yearly increased amount. The statute merely provides that supplemental benefits are equal to 5% of the claimant's compensation rate on the date of accident multiplied by the number of years since the accident.

Furthermore, the offset provision in the statute (section **440.15(10)** (a), **Fla.Stat.** (1974)) does not exclude any type of compensation from the offset. In other words, the offset statute

does not provide that only the amount of supplemental benefits applicable when the offset is initially taken is the amount included in the offset. Rather, the offset provision states that the reduction/offset is to apply to **all** weekly compensation benefits. § 440.15(10) (a), Fla.Stat. (1974). Although the PTD benefit amount the claimant receives will not usually change from year to year, the supplemental amount the claimant is entitled to will increase by 5% each year. § 440.15(1) (e), Fla.Stat. (1974). Accordingly, because the initial amount of supplemental benefits is considered a weekly compensation benefit and increases in that amount are also considered a weekly compensation benefit, the statute mandates that they be included in the offset. Section 440.15(10) (a), Fla.Stat. (1974).

Additionally, a careful review of the amounts used by this Court in the <u>Grice</u> decision evidences this Court's intention to include the yearly increases in PTD supplemental benefits in offset calculations. In 1985, the year of the accident, Mr. Grice's average weekly wage (AWW) was \$583.88 with a corresponding compensation rate (comp rate) of \$307.00 (maximum comp rate for 1985). <u>Escambia County Sheriff's Dept. v. Grice</u>, 692 So.2d 896, 897 (Fla. 1997). When the offset amount was disputed, in 1991, he received \$392/week. <u>Id.</u> Because he received the maximum amount of PTD compensation (\$307/week) available for

his date of accident, his receipt of \$392/week in 1991 must have included PTD supplemental benefits. According to Section 440.15(1) (e)1., Fla.Stat. (1983), the PTD supplemental amount Mr. Grice was entitled to in 1991, the year the offset dispute arose, was \$92.10/week (\$307/week x .05 x 6 years since the accident). When this amount is added to the \$307/week compensation amount, it yields a total payment of \$399.10/week. Mr. Grice did not receive \$399.10/week in 1991 because this amount exceeded the maximum compensation rate for 1991. The maximum compensation a claimant could receive in 1991 was \$392/week. Thus, Mr. Grice was only entitled to receive \$392/week in 1991 and this Court's Opinion in Grice indicates this was the amount he received. The \$392/week figure was used by this Court to determine whether his benefits from all sources exceeded 100% of his average weekly The amount his benefits exceeded 100% of his AWW was the waqe. allowable offset amount. As indicated in the prior calculations, the figure of \$392 included the annual increases in supplemental benefits for six years.

The First **DCA's** Opinion in <u>Acker</u> holding that yearly increases in supplemental benefits are not includable in the offset is in direct contravention to the offset provision in Chapter 440. Chapter 440 and the case law clearly state that supplemental benefits, including **any** increases in them, are

compensation. § 440.02(11), Fla.Stat. (1974) ; § 440.15(1) (e), Fla.Stat. (1974); Cook 617 So.2d at 754; Stephens 595 So.2d at The offset statutory provision requires that 'weekly 209. compensation benefits" be offset. § 440.15(10) (a), Fla.Stat. (1974). The term "weekly compensation benefits"- is an allinclusive term which includes both workers' compensation benefits and supplemental benefits. By use of this all-inclusive term, the offset statute clearly contemplates that the entire amount of the- supplemental benefits being paid is subject to whatever offset is available. Consequently, the First DCA's Opinion in Acker stating otherwise is not in conformance with the unambiguous statutory language which compels inclusion of supplemental benefits, including the annual increases, in the allowable offset. The figures used by this Court in the Grice case also supports this conclusion.

It is well settled that social security cost of living increases are not included in the offset. LaFond v. Pinellas Co. <u>Bd. of Commissioners</u>, 379 So.2d 1023, 1024 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1980). By prohibiting the Division of Worker's Compensation and carriers from including the yearly increases in PTD supplemental benefits in the offset too, the claimant is allowed to obtain a windfall of two cost-of-living increases in one year. What will eventually happen is that the claimant will receive more than 100% of

his/her average weekly wage due to his/her receipt of the yearly increases in social security and workers' compensation (supplemental benefits). This Court, in <u>Grice</u>, stated that 'an injured worker, . . ., may not receive benefits from his employer and other collateral sources which, when totaled, exceed 100% of his average weekly wage." <u>Grice</u> 692 at 898. In order to prevent this from occurring, the Division or the carrier (whoever pays the supplemental benefits) must be allowed to include the yearly increases in these benefits in the offset calculation.

The Workers' Compensation Administration Trust Fund (WCATF) has finite resources controlled by **statute.** The WCATF's money is with workers' myriad of expenses **associated** used for a compensation, such as rehabilitation expenses of claimants (8440.50, Fla.Stat.); PTD supplemental benefits owed by the Division (§ 440.50, Fla.Stat.); the operating budget of the JCCs (§ 440.45, Fla.Stat.); the travel expenses of the Chief Judge, JCCs and Department employees (§ 440.47, Fla.Stat.); the expenses Workers' Compensation Oversight Board (\$ 440.4416, of the Fla.Stat.); and the expenses associated with the administration of Chapter 440 by the Division (§ 440.44, Fla.Stat.). Any change in the current practice of the Division, including the increases in supplemental benefits in the allowable offset, would impact

the fiscal soundness of the WCATF (especially if the Division was required to repay carriers for prior offsets).

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