SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF LABOR
AND EMPLOYMENT SECURITY,
WORKERS' COMPENSATION
ADMINISTRATION TRUST FUND

PETITIONER,

vs. CASE NO.: 94,103

BOISE CASCADE CORPORATION and WAUSAU INSURANCE COMPANY, and WILLIAM M.BOWMAN, JR.

RESPONDENT.

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT, WILLIAM M. BOWMAN, JR.

Irvin A. Meyers, Esquire Fla. Bar No.: 054643 MEYERS, MOONEY, MEYERS 17 S. Lake Avenue Orlando, Florida 328081 (407) 849-0940 Attorney for Respondent, William M. Bowman, Jr.

CERTIFICATION OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

This brief is typed with 14 point Courier New.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS iv												
ISSUE ON APPEAL												
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT												
ARGUMENT												
THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS CORRECT IN CONCLUDING THAT AN EMPLOYER WHO TAKES A WORKERS' COMPENSATION OFFSET UNDER SECTION 440.20(15), FLORIDA STATUTES (1985), AND INITIALLY INCLUDES SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFITS PAID UNDER 440.15(1)(e), FLORIDA STATUTES (1985), IS NOT ENTITLED TO RECALCULATE THE OFFSET BASED ON THE YEARLY 5% INCREASE IN												
SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFITS												
CONCLUSION												
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE												
TNDEY ADDENDTY												

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

I. CASES

	Acker v. City of Clearwater, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D-1970 (Fla. 1st DCA, August 17, 1998) 4,5,6,12
	Alderman vs. Florida Plastering, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D-2197 (Fla.1st DCA, 9/23/98) . 4,5,6,12
	<u>Cruse Construction vs. St. Remy</u> , 704 So.2nd 1180 (Fla.1st DCA 1997) 4,5,6,12
	Department of Labor and Employment Security, Division of Workers' Compensation v. Vaughn, 411 So.2d 294 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982)
	Division of Workers' Compensation Administrative Trust Fund v. Hansborough,
	507 So.2d 785, 786 (Fla.1st DCA 1987) 8
	Escambia County Sheriff's Department vs. Grice, 692 So. 2nd 896 (Fla. 1997)
	<pre>Holley v. Ace Disposal, 668 So.2d 645, (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) 3,10</pre>
	<u>Hunt v. D.M. Stratton Builders</u> , 677 So.2nd 64 (Fla.1st DCA 1996) 4,5,12
	<pre>Polote Corporation v. Meredith, 482 So.2d 515, (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) 8</pre>
Condo	SanSoucie v. Division of Florida Land Sales and Division of Business Regulations, 421 So.2d 623 (Fla. lst DCA 1982)
	Shipp v. State Workers' Compensation Trust Fund, 481 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986)
II.	FLORIDA STATUTES Section 440.20(15), Florida Statute (1985) 1
	Section 440.15 (1)(f)2b, Florida Statute (1985)
	Section 440.(1)(e)(1), Florida Statute (1985) 1

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Claimant/Respondent is in agreement with the Statement of the Case and Facts contained in the Petitioner's Initial Brief on the Merits. $^{\rm 1}$

¹The Respondent will be referred to as follows: Mr. Bowman, Respondent, or Claimant. The Petitioner will be referred to as Petitioner, Workers' Compensation Administration Trust Fund or abbreviated as WCATF.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

The claimant agrees with the Petitioner that the following constitutes the issue on appeal in the instant case:

"WHERE AN EMPLOYER TAKES A WORKERS'
COMPENSATION OFFSET UNDER SECTION 440.20(15),
FLORIDA STATUTES (1985), AND INITIALLY
INCLUDED SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFITS PAID UNDER
SECTION 440.(1)(e)(1), FLORIDA STATUTES
(1985), IS THE EMPLOYER ENTITLED TO
RECALCULATE THE OFFSET BASED ON THE YEARLY 5%
INCREASE IN SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFITS?"

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioner spends a great deal of time in their brief arguing that permanent total supplemental benefits should be considered as compensation and since it is compensation, they are therefore includable in the offset. There is really no debate that permanent total supplemental benefits are compensation, but the yearly increases in those benefits are not includable in the offset after the initial offset calculation is made because the Legislature intended those benefits to represent a cost of living increase and a hedge against inflation for the injured worker.

The Petitioner bases its argument on the decision in Escambia County Sheriff's Department vs. Grice, 692 So. 2nd 896 (Fla. 1997). They argue that the Grice decision implicitly approves including the annual supplemental increases in the offset calculation. The Grice decision was decided long after the decisions which prohibit the inclusion of the annual increases in supplemental benefits as part of the offset and the Grice decision did not deal with that issue.

They further make the policy argument that the Workers'

Compensation Administrative Trust Fund has finite resources, is controlled by Statute and if the question that is certified is answered in the negative, it will have a serious financial impact on the Workers' Compensation Administrative Trust Fund and will also require an assessment of contributions against current carriers and self insured's for the obligations of their predecessors and will result in a windfall for the injured

worker. Solving the financial problems of the Workers'

Compensation Administrative Trust Fund should be addressed to the legislature and not this Court.

In response to the argument of a negative answer to the question certified creating a windfall for the injured worker, we would point out that the WCATF, carrier and self-insured's, all received a tremendous windfall by the decision in Holley v. Ace Disposal, 668 So. 2d 645, (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), which held that F.S. 440.15 (1)(f)2b, which became effective on 1/1/94 could be applied retroactively. The effect of this decision was that all injured workers who were receiving permanent total disability benefits under Chapter 440, without considering their date of accident, must now apply for social security disability benefits under penalty of having their permanent total disability benefits suspended if they did not do so. The net result of this was that the WCATF, carrier and self-insured's were then allowed to take offsets against social security disability benefits and supplemental benefits in cases where they had calculated exposure and set premiums based on full payment of permanent total disability benefits. Also, we would point out that the Workers' Compensation Administrative Trust Fund is only obligated to pay supplemental benefits where the date of accident pre-dated July Since that date, the carrier's, and/or self-insured's, have the obligation to pay the supplemental benefits.

The single consideration that should be addressed by this Court is whether it's decision is consistent with the clear

ruling of the only cases that have decided this issue, which are Hunt v. D.M. Stratton Builders, 677 So.2nd 64 (Fla.1st DCA 1996); Cruse Construction vs. St. Remy, 704 So.2nd 1180 (Fla.1st DCA 1997); Alderman vs. Florida Plastering, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D-2197 (Fla.1st DCA, 9/23/98), and Acker v. City of Clearwater, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D-1970 (Fla. 1st DCA, August 17, 1998). These cases address the specific issue at hand and the function of this Court is to determine the correctness of those decisions and continue to carry out the Legislative intent to provide injured workers' with a true cost of living increase to offset the effects of inflation.

ARGUMENT

THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS

CORRECT IN CONCLUDING THAT AN EMPLOYER WHO

TAKES A WORKERS' COMPENSATION OFFSET UNDER

SECTION 440.20(15), FLORIDA STATUTES (1985),

AND INITIALLY INCLUDES SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFITS

PAID UNDER 440.15(1)(e), FLORIDA STATUTES

(1985), IS NOT ENTITLED TO RECALCULATE THE

OFFSET BASED ON THE YEARLY 5% INCREASE IN

SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFITS.

In the case below, the First District Court of Appeal correctly affirmed the Judge of Compensation Claims that when the Workers' Compensation Administrative Trust Fund takes their initial offset against permanent total supplemental benefits, they are not allowed to continue to take offsets against the annual five percent (5%) increase in permanent total supplemental benefits. This result is consistent with the only cases that have dealt with that specific issue, Hunt v. D.M. Stratton

Builders, 677 So.2d 64 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); Cruse Construction v. St. Remy, 704 So.2d 1180 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); Alderman v. Florida Plastering, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D-2197 (Fla. 1st DCA, 9/23/98); and Acker v. City of Clearwater, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D-1970 (Fla. 1st DCA, August 17, 1998). These cases have addressed the specific issue at hand and have held that the rational employed by the District Court in the instant case is correct.

The Petitioner argues that the <u>Grice</u> decision implicitly recognized and endorsed the practice of allowing annual increases in supplemental benefits to be included in offsets. The <u>Grice</u> decision was issued by this Court approximately ten (10) months after the decision in the <u>Hunt</u> case, and makes absolutely no mention of the <u>Hunt</u> decision and clearly does not recede from that decision. If this Court, in <u>Grice</u>, had intended to recede from the holding in <u>Hunt</u>, which prohibits the taking of an offset against annual increases in supplemental benefits, it would have done so. The <u>Hunt</u> decision is therefore clearly controlling as are the decisions which cite <u>Hunt</u> including <u>St. Remy</u>, <u>Alderman</u>, and <u>Acker</u>. The <u>Alderman</u> decision addressed the argument which is made by the Petitioner in this case, when the Court said:

"The court held in <u>Grice</u> that, in the initial calculation of the offset, the employer and carrier are entitled to offset amounts paid to the employee for state disability retirement and social security disability against workers' compensation benefits to the extent that the combined total of all benefits exceeds the employee's average weekly wage."

"However, as pointed out in the <u>Acker</u> opinion, <u>Grice</u> did not concern the issue of recalculation, nor did it address the <u>Hunt</u> opinion. To the contrary, <u>Grice</u> involved the initial calculation of offset after a claimant begins receiving collateral benefits. If the court had intended to overrule <u>Hunt</u>, it could have done so expressly in <u>Grice</u>. Moreover, our decision in <u>Cruse</u>, affirming <u>Hunt</u>, was published in late December of 1997, nearly 7 months after the supreme court issued the <u>Grice</u> opinion. Therefore, <u>Hunt's</u> prohibition against recalculation to account for cost-of-living increase, as reaffirmed in <u>Cruse</u>, is still good law."

In 1974, the Florida Legislature realized that they must enact legislation to assist injured workers in their fight against inflation where they have become permanently and totally

disabled and have been locked into a maximum compensation rate in existence in the year of their injury, which quickly becomes eroded away over the years. In response to that need, the Florida Legislature pasted Florida Statute 440.15(1)(e), which became effective October 1, 1974.

"In case of permanent total disability resulting from injuries which occurred subsequent to June 30, 1955, for which the liability of the employer for compensation has not been discharged under the provisions of Subsection 440.20 (10), the injured employee shall receive from the Division additional weekly compensation benefits equal to 5% of the injured employees weekly compensation rate as established pursuant to law in effect at the date of the injury; multiplied by the number of calendar years since the date of the injury, and subject to the national weekly compensation rate set forth in Subsection 440.12 (2). Such benefits shall be paid out of the Workers' Compensation Trust Fund. This applies to payments due after October 1, 1974."

The Florida Workers' Compensation Act has been in existence since 1935, but prior to 1974, there was no such concept as permanent total supplemental benefits. It is clear that the Florida Legislature intended that this 5% per year supplemental increase should be intended as a cost-of-living increase and as a hedge against inflation. Cases dealing with the intention of the Legislature, with reference to the passage of the aforesaid Statute, also support this argument. In the Department of Labor and Employment Security, Division of Workers' Compensation v. Vaughn, 411 So.2d 294 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), the Court said:

"To partially offset the effects of inflation since the award of compensation benefits in early years, that Statute directs the fund to supplement the compensation still to be paid under such an award by adding five times the number of years since the date of the injury."

The purpose of the supplemental benefits was also commented on by the Court in <u>Shipp v. State Workers' Compensation Trust</u>

<u>Fund</u>, 481 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), where the Court said:

"...the purpose of supplemental benefits, which is to protect recipients of periodic benefits from the long-term effects of inflation that reduce the value of a fixed amount of benefits. The effects of inflation are the same irrespective of the method of calculating supplemental benefits."

"We note that lump-sum payments are not a favored remedy. See 440.20 (12)(a), Florida Statutes (1981). Supplemental benefits are intended as an incentive to continue periodic payments and avoid the potential for inflation to diminish the value of such payments." (Also see <u>Division of Workers' Compensation</u>
Administrative Trust Fund v. Hansborough, 507 So.2d 785, 786 (Fla.1st DCA 1987).

Further support for the argument that the legislative intent in creating supplemental benefits was as a hedge against inflation can be seen from the 1984 legislative changes in the Workers' Compensation Law, which were discussed by the Court in Polote Corporation v. Meredith, 482 So.2d 515, (Fla. 1st DCA 1986):

"...Section 440.15 (1)(e) states:

The injured employees shall receive from the

division additional weekly compensation benefits equal to 5 percent of the injured employee's compensation rate, as established pursuant to the law in effect on the date of his injury, multiplied by the number of calendar years since the date of injury and subject to the maximum weekly compensation rate set forth in 440.12 (2). This language is ambiguous as to whether the supplemental benefit is limited by the weekly compensation rate at the time of injury or the time of The latent ambiguity of this language was corrected by Chapter 84-267, Laws of Florida, which amended the section to read that the weekly compensation and the additional benefits "shall not exceed the maximum weekly compensation rate in effect at the time of payment as determined pursuant to s.

440.12 (2)." This is consistent with the long-standing policy of the Division of Workers' Compensation, and great weight is given to the agency determinations with regard to a statute's interpretations. <u>SanSoucie v. Division of Florida Land Sales and Condominiums</u>, <u>Department of Business Regulations</u>, 421 So.2d 623 (Fla. lst DCA 1982)."

Finally, the Petitioner makes the argument that if the question that has been certified is answered in the negative, that this Court should find that the effect of that should have only prospective application, rather than being applied retroactively. They cite as a basis for that, that the Workers' Compensation Administrative Trust Fund has only finite resources and has many financial obligations. That should not be of consideration of this Court in answering this question. Petitioners fail to mention in their brief that they have not had an obligation to pay supplemental benefits for accidents that have occurred in the past fourteen (14) years. Their obligation on the payment of supplemental benefits ended effective with accidents occurring before July 1, 1984. This Court should consider the fact that the claimant in this case, Mr. Bowman, was injured in 1974, and at that time, the maximum compensation rate in the state of Florida was \$80.00 per week. (Appendix Pages 1-2) Consideration must be given to the economic impact on him, and the other injured workers' who became permanently and totally disabled.

We would also point out to the Court that in response to the Petitioner's argument that this would create a windfall for the injured worker, that a tremendous windfall was created on behalf

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